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By U.S. Mail and Electronic Mail 

 

April 23, 2012  

 

Members of San Francisco Ethics Commission 

25 South Van Ness Avenue, Suite 220 

San Francisco, CA  94102-6053 

 

San Francisco City Attorney 

Attn: Peter Keith and Sherri Kaiser 

1390 Market Street, Suite 700 

San Francisco, CA  94102-5408 

 

 Re:  Agenda for April 23, 2012 meeting 

 

Dear Commission Members and Counsel, 

 

We are in receipt of the memo dated April 17, 2012 from John St. Croix regarding 

recommendations on how to proceed with hearings on the charges of official misconduct against 

Sheriff Ross Mirkarimi.  We raise the following points for consideration at today’s meeting.  

Please note our objection to the Commission doing anything other than terminating these 

proceedings, as the removal proceedings set forth in San Francisco Charter section 15.105(a) and 

(e) are unconstitutionally vague, and do not accord Sheriff Mirkarimi the process he is due under 

the law.  Moreover, the flagrant abuse of these Charter sections by Mayor Lee is an attempt to 

thwart the will of the electorate. 

 

In recognition of the political reality that the Commission will nonetheless likely proceed with 

this process, we make the following points. 

 

Standard of Proof and Requirement of Unanimity 

 

To best address the Charter’s glaring lack of any rules or procedure for removal proceedings 

such as this, Sheriff Mirkarimi suggests that the only way to preserve a semblance of fairness 

would be to adopt the strict protections for officials accused of misconduct under the California 

Government Code.  Under GC §§ 3060-75, trial of an accusation of misconduct against an 

official is governed by the same rules governing a trial of criminal charges brought by grand jury 

indictment. 

 

Accordingly, before it may recommend that the Board of Supervisors vote to remove Sheriff 

Mirkarimi, the Commission should have to be convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that Sheriff 
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Mirkarimi committed official misconduct, and all five members of the Commission should have 

to agree and vote to make such a recommendation. 

 

Notice, Discovery, and Compulsory Process rights 

 

Sheriff Mirkarimi cannot prepare to defend against these charges without knowing exactly which 

charges, witnesses, and what physical evidence, will be used by Mayor Lee.  Accordingly, it is of 

paramount importance that the Mayor disclose this information at the earliest time possible. 

 

The Written Charges of Official Misconduct also make two separate and distinct sets of charges: 

one version of the charges do not require any nexus to the office while the other version does.  

This lack of clarity and admission that Charter § 15.105(e) is vague and unclear is one of the 

many reasons why the Ethics Commission should stop this process.  Sheriff Mirkarimi could not 

possibly have been on notice as to what might constitute official misconduct if the Mayor 

himself did not know.  At this point, both the Mayor, through the charging instrument (3:9-13), 

and Director St. Croix
1
 have admitted that Charter is vague.  Accordingly, the Commission 

should dismiss the entire proceedings.  Failing that, the Commission must decide what, exactly, 

15.105(e) means.   

 

Depending on what evidence will be offered against him, Sheriff Mirkarimi may need to take 

discovery and issue subpoenas.  As set forth below, Sheriff Mirkarimi is currently at a serious 

disadvantage as the City Attorney has commenced a “City Attorney investigation” into claimed 

allegations that Sheriff Mirkarimi has violated certain provisions of the San Francisco Campaign 

and Governmental Conduct Code (please see attached correspondence; letters dated April 16, 18 

and 20, 2012, between Deputy City Attorney Peter J. Keith and David P. Waggoner).  We 

strongly suspect that this “investigation” is a subterfuge to allow the City Attorney to obtain 

discovery for use in this proceeding, which he might otherwise be unable to obtain.  Sheriff 

Mirkarimi has no ability at present to conduct any discovery or subpoena witnesses or 

documents. 

 

Advisory Opinion Needed On Sheriff Mirkarimi’s Duty To Comply With City Attorney 

“Investigation” 

 

As mentioned above, the City Attorney has commenced an “investigation” into whether Sheriff 

Mirkarimi has violated provisions of the San Francisco Campaign and Governmental Conduct 

Code.  (hereafter “SFC&GCC”).  Under Charter Appendix section C3.699-13, “[a]ny person 

may request the commission to issue a written opinion with respect to that person's duties under 

provisions of this charter or any ordinance relating to campaign finance, conflicts of interest, 

                                                           
1
 (“’Because the charter is vague, the interpretation is a little on the broad side,’ said St. Croix,” City Enters 

Uncharted Territory in Mirkarimi Case, by Matt Smith, The Bay Citizen, March 21, 2012) 
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lobbying or governmental ethics.”  Sheriff Mirkarimi hereby requests that the Commission issue 

a written opinion into whether he must comply with the City Attorney’s requested cooperation.  

Furthermore, Sheriff Mirkarimi requests that because the City Attorney has recused himself from 

advising the Ethics Commission in connection with removal proceedings against Sheriff 

Mirkarimi, the City Attorney play no role in advising the Commission on this request for written 

opinion.   

 

In order to assist the Commission in this request, we offer the following analysis of the relevant 

charter and code sections. 

 

San Francisco City Charter § 6.102.9 grants the City Attorney authority to investigate claims for 

money or damages, or incidents where the City faces potential civil liability.  However, there is 

nothing in the City Charter authorizing the City Attorney to investigate alleged violations of the 

SFC&GCC.  While SFC&GCC Code § 3.240 references a possible City Attorney investigation 

as to “an alleged violation of this chapter,” City Charter § C3.699-13 provides: “The commission 

shall conduct investigations in accordance with this subdivision of alleged violations of this 

charter and City ordinances relating to campaign finance, lobbying, conflicts of interest and 

governmental ethics.”   

 

Thus, the City Charter seems to clearly mandate that the Ethics Commission has sole authority to 

conduct investigations as to alleged violations of the SFG&GCC.  The Charter is the highest law 

of the City.  Rather than act as investigator, the Charter mandates that the City Attorney shall be 

the legal advisor to the Ethics Commission, pursuant to City Charter § 15.102.   

 

Here, the City Attorney recused itself as the legal advisor to the Ethics Commission, and has 

appointed outside counsel to represent the Commission.  Accordingly, the City Attorney should 

properly have no further role in these proceedings as either advisor to the Commission or 

investigator of any alleged violations.  The proper investigating authority is the San Francisco 

Ethics Commission, along with its chosen outside counsel.  

 

Sincerely, 

 

/s/  David P. Waggoner     /s/ Shepard S. Kopp 
 
David P. Waggoner       Shepard S. Kopp 

 

 

Attorneys for Sheriff Ross Mirkarimi 

 











































DAVID P. WAGGONER, ATTORNEY AT LAW 
1777 Haight Street 

San Francisco, CA  94117 

(415) 305-7708 

davidpwaggoner@gmail.com  

 

cc: Shepard S. Kopp 
 
 

 

By Electronic Mail 

 

April 20, 2012  

 

San Francisco City Attorney 

Attn: Peter Keith and Sherri Kaiser 

1390 Market Street, Suite 700 

San Francisco, CA  94102-5408 

 

 Re:  Investigation of Sheriff Ross Mirkarimi 

 

Dear Mr. Keith, 

 

We are in receipt of your letter characterizing our response to your demand that we turn over five 

categories of documents within 72 hours and make our client available for an interview in less 

than a week – on the same day the Ethics Commission will consider proper procedures in this 

case –  as improper and not credible.   

 

We state again that we are NOT refusing to cooperate with your investigation.  We have three 

hearings in less than one week, and your demand that we produce documents within 72 hours 

and make our client available on the same day as a hearing is unreasonable.    

 

You have not given any reason as to why your demands can not wait until after the Ethics 

Commission hearing on April 23, 2012.  We are cooperating with your investigation, as 

demonstrated by my responses to your demand letters.  We will address your demands in greater 

detail after Monday.    

 

Sincerely, 

 

/s/ David P. Waggoner 

 

David P. Waggoner 

Attorney for Ross Mirkarimi 
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